## Boreal Mire Carbon Exchange

Sensitivity to Climate Change and Anthropogenic Nitrogen and Sulfur Deposition

**Tobias Eriksson** 

Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Forest Ecology and Management Umeå

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Umeå 2010 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2010:62

Cover: "The foot-bridge to infinity". The photo is taken from the northeastern entrance to Degerö Stormyr in middle of September 2009. (photo: Tobias Eriksson, edited by Per Wedholm)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-576-7475-3 © 2010 Tobias Eriksson, Umeå Print: Arkitektkopia AB, Umeå 2010

## Boreal mire carbon exchange - sensitivity to climate change and anthropogenic nitrogen and sulfur deposition

#### Abstract

Boreal peatlands are important long-term sinks of atmospheric carbon and in the same time the largest natural source of methane to the atmosphere. A changing climate as well as deposition of anthropogenically derived pollutants, such as nitrogen and sulfur, has the potential to affect the processes that control the carbon exchange in peatlands. Many of the biogeochemical responses to changed environmental conditions, such as changed plant community composition, are slow and therefore long-term studies are required. In this thesis I have investigated the long-term effects of nitrogen addition, sulfur addition and greenhouse enclosures on carbon exchange by using a field manipulation experiment in a boreal minerogenic, oligotrophic mire after 10-12 years of treatment. Treatment effects on CH<sub>4</sub> emissions, gross primary production (GPP), ecosystem respiration ( $R_{res}$ ) and net ecosystem exchange (NEE) were estimated from 1-2 seasons of chamber flux measurements. Treatment effects on potential CH<sub>4</sub> production and oxidation were estimated in incubations of peat from different depth intervals. The effect of nitrogen deposition on carbon accumulation was evaluated in peat cores at different depth intervals. The long-term nitrogen additions have: shifted plant community composition from being dominated by Sphagnum to being dominated by sedges and dwarf shrubs; changed mire surface microtopography so that mean water table is closer to the surface in plots with high nitrogen; increased CH<sub>4</sub> production and emission; increased Rem slightly but have not affected GPP or NEE; reduced the peat height increment, but increased both peat bulk density and carbon content, leading to an unchanged carbon accumulation. The long-term sulfur additions have not reduced CH<sub>4</sub> emissions, only slightly reduced CH<sub>4</sub> production and did not have any effect on the CO<sub>2</sub> carbon exchange. The greenhouse treatment, manifested in increased air and soil temperatures, reduced both CH<sub>4</sub> emissions and CH4 production by approximately 30%, decreased Reco slightly, but had no effect on either GPP or NEE. Many of these results oppose to earlier findings, and this suggests that long-term field manipulations are important when evaluating effects with a long time constant.

*Keywords:* peatland, nitrogen, sulfur, deposition, temperature, field manipulation, carbon, methane, CO<sub>2</sub>,

*Author's address:* Tobias Eriksson, SLU, Department of Forest Ecology and Management, S-901 83 Umeå, Sweden *E-mail:* <u>Tobias.Eriksson@sek.slu.se</u>

## Contents

List c	f Publications	7						
1	Introduction	9						
1.1	Background	9						
1.2	Objectives	10						
1.3	Mire ecology – a brief introduction	11						
1.4	Carbon processes in mires and their controls	12						
	1.4.1 Gross primary production	13						
	1.4.2 Ecosystem respiration	14						
	1.4.3 $CH_4$ production, oxidation and emission	14						
	1.4.4 Carbon export through runoff	15						
1.5	Effects of nitrogen deposition, sulfur deposition and increased							
	temperature on mire biogeochemistry	16						
2	Material and methods	19						
2.1	Study site	19						
2.2	Experimental design and manipulations	21						
2.3	Methods	23						
	2.3.1 Measurements of climatic variables	23						
	2.3.2 Gas flux measurements (Papers II and III)	23						
	2.3.3 Peat incubations (Papers I and II)	24						
	2.3.4 Peat density, height growth and C contents (Paper IV)	24						
2.4	Statistical approach	25						
3	Results and discussion	27						
3.1	Treatment effects on vegetation and microtopography (Papers I-IV)							
3.2	Treatment effects on production, oxidation and emissions of $CH_4$							
	(Papers I and II)							
	3.2.1 Effects of long-term nitrogen additions	30						
	3.2.2 Effects of long-term sulfur additions							
	3.2.3 Effects of long-term greenhouse treatment							
3.3	Treatment effects on $CO_2$ flux components (Paper III)							
	3.3.1 Effects of long-term nitrogen additions							
	3.3.2 Effects of long-term sulfur additions	38						

	3.3.3 Effects of long-term greenhouse treatment	38			
3.4	Effects of nitrogen deposition on C accumulation (Paper IV)				
3.5	Methodological considerations	41			
	3.5.1 Chamber measurements	41			
	3.5.2 Statistical design and data evaluation	42			
3.6	Conclusions	43			
3.7	Implications	44			
3.8	Further research	45			
References					
Acknowledgements					

## List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work described in the following papers, which are referred to by the corresponding Roman numerals in the text:

- I Eriksson T., Öquist M.G. and Nilsson M.B. (2010). Production and oxidation of methane in a boreal mire after a decade of increased temperature and nitrogen and sulfur deposition. *Global Change Biology* 16(7) 2130-2144. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02097.x
- II Eriksson T., Öquist M.G. and Nilsson M.B. (2010) Effects of decadal deposition of nitrogen and sulfur, and increased temperature, on methane emissions from a boreal peatland. Accepted in *Journal of Geophysical Research-Biosciences*.
- III Eriksson T. and Nilsson M.B. Decadal deposition of nitrogen and sulfur, and increased temperature, has only caused minor changes in carbon dioxide fluxes between the atmosphere and a boreal mire. Manuscript.
- IV Nilsson, M.B. and **Eriksson, T**. Long-term increases in nitrogen deposition have not reduced carbon accumulation rates in a boreal peatland. Manuscript.

Papers I and II is reproduced with the kind permission of the publisher.

### 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Background

Mires are ecosystems with high water table levels, and usually nutrient-poor and acidic conditions, in which rates of carbon (C) fixation are low but rates of decomposition even lower, thus C is accumulated as peat (Immirzi et al., 1992). Since these conditions have persisted for thousands of years in many cases, mires store large quantities of C. About 85% of the global peatland area is located in the boreal and subarctic regions (Joosten & Clarke, 2002). Boreal mires cover only approximately 3% of the global land area, but currently store presently 270-455 Pg of C, corresponding to about 30% of the global soil C pool (Turunen et al., 2002; Gorham, 1991) and 35-60% of the total atmospheric C pool (IPCC, 2007). Mires are important biologically as habitats for unique plants and animals, economically for harvestable resources such as fuel and horticultural products, and socially for aesthetic, cultural and landscape values (Charman, 2002). In addition, mires may play an important role in the context of climate change. Boreal peatlands have acted, and still act, as long-term atmospheric sinks of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) and simultaneously as atmospheric sources of methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), both of which are important greenhouse gases (Frolking & Roulet, 2007). Wetlands in the northern hemisphere add approximately 36 Tg CH, per year to the atmosphere, constituting 6 % of the total and 22 % of the natural sources of atmospheric CH<sub>4</sub> (Chen & Prinn, 2006).

Numerous variables influence  $CO_2$  exchange and  $CH_4$  emissions, but the most important include the water table level (Granberg *et al.*, 1997), the vegetation community composition mainly determined by the nutrient availability (Joabsson *et al.*, 1999b) the annual average temperature (Christensen *et al.*, 2003) the availability of competing electron acceptors (Conrad, 1989). Any change in these controls may in turn affect  $CO_2$  fluxes and  $CH_4$  emissions. Such a change can, for example, be initiated by a changing climate or deposition of anthropogenic pollutants (Gauci *et al.*, 2004; Granberg *et al.*, 2001; Gorham, 1991).

Anthropogenic pollutants, such as chemicals containing nitrogen (N) and sulfur (S) released during industrial processes and combustion, may be transported by wind and clouds and deposited in mires as either wet or dry deposition. High deposition of N has the potential to shift the vegetation community composition (Berendse *et al.*, 2001), and thereby affect the biogeochemical processes of these ecosystems (Gunnarsson & Rydin, 2000). Sulfate (SO<sub>4</sub><sup>-2</sup>), the oxidized form of S, may affect both plant production (Ferguson & Lee, 1979) and CH<sub>4</sub> processes (Gauci *et al.*, 2004). In addition to anthropogenic pollutants, climatic changes may have strong effects on the C exchange properties of peatlands, through changes in temperature (Dorrepaal *et al.*, 2009) and water balance (Bubier *et al.*, 2003).

Thus, it is of great importance to understand the long-term effects of N deposition, S deposition and temperature increases on C exchange processes in peatlands. Field manipulations are often used to evaluate these effects. However, most field studies are based on short-term (1-3 years) experiments; hence the results mostly reflect effects of changes in nutrient availability, rather than those of long-term shifts in plant community composition. Clearly, to assess the latter using field manipulations, the treatments must be at least sufficiently prolonged to induce changes in the vegetation.

#### 1.2 Objectives

The objectives of the project this thesis is based upon were to evaluate the effects of long-term N and S deposition and increased temperature on carbon exchange and storage in a boreal minerotrophic mire. An experimental site in northern Sweden, where N and S applications and greenhouse cover have been applied for 10-12 years to a poor fen lawn, was observed to assess effects of these treatments on  $CH_4$  production and  $CH_4$  oxidation potentials (Paper I),  $CH_4$  emissions (Paper II), net  $CO_2$  ecosystem exchange (Paper III) and finally the C accumulation of the mire (Paper IV). For convenience, the studies described in Papers I-IV are referred to as Studies I-IV, respectively, and their specific objectives were as follows:

In Study I, colleagues who participated in the project and I (hereafter we) investigated whether  $CH_4$  production in the upper 40 cm of the peat was: (1) stimulated by the long-term N additions via increases in the density of

vascular plants, (2) reduced by the long-term S deposition due to enhanced competition from sulfate-reducing bacteria and/or (3) enhanced by the greenhouse treatment as a direct effect of increased soil temperature, or if other long-term indirect effects of the treatment were more significant. In addition, we evaluated the effects of the three field treatments on  $CH_4$  oxidation potentials.

In Study II we hypothesized: (1) that deposition of N increases  $CH_4$  emissions by enhancing vascular plant cover, with associated increases in plant root exudation and plant-mediated transport of  $CH_4$ ; (2) that deposition of S reduces  $CH_4$  emissions by enhancing competition for available energy between sulfate-reducing bacteria and methanogens; and (3) that long-term greenhouse enclosure reduces  $CH_4$  emissions by reducing the quality of substrates entering the anoxic zone.

In Study III we evaluated the responses of net  $CO_2$  ecosystem exchange and the flux components gross primary production (GPP) and ecosystem respiration ( $R_{eco}$ ) to the experimental treatments. We hypothesized that: (1) N deposition stimulates both GPP and  $R_{eco}$ , and leaving net ecosystem exchange (NEE) virtually unchanged; (2) S deposition slightly reduces NEE through negative effects on GPP; and (3) the greenhouse treatment stimulates both GPP and  $R_{eco}$ , leaving NEE essentially unchanged.

Finally, in Study IV, our main interest was to investigate the effects of long-term N deposition on C accumulation in the upper 40 cm of the peat. We hypothesized that N deposition decreases the height growth of the peat, but increases its bulk density and C content so overall rates of C accumulation are not substantially changed.

#### 1.3 Mire ecology - a brief introduction

The vegetation and hydrology play key roles in C cycling of mires, which are often classified by their hydrological and nutrient status; ombrotrophic peatlands (bogs) receive water and nutrients only from precipitation, while minerotrophic peatlands (fens) also receive water and nutrients from mineral soils. Boreal mire systems often form large complexes, with some parts that could be classified as ombrotrophic and others that are minerotrophic. The plant communities are mainly controlled by the nutrient conditions and hydrology of the mire site (Lindroth *et al.*, 2007) and can be classified according to the hydrotopographical conditions, ranging from hollows, carpets and lawns in wet areas to ridges and hummocks in dry areas (Rydin & Jeglum, 2006). The vegetation in boreal peatlands is typically dominated by three groups of plants; *Sphagnum* mosses, sedges and dwarf shrubs.

Different species of *Sphagnum*, with differing adaptations to hydrological conditions, are represented in many mire plant communities. *Sphagnum* mosses are well adapted to nutrient-poor and water-logged environments by their capacity of taking up and efficiently use nutrients (Malmer *et al.*, 2003; Clymo, 1963). *Sphagnum* species are also good at maintaining a nutrient-poor, acidic and anoxic environment, which makes it difficult for vascular plants to compete for nutrients (Van Breemen, 1995). Sedges, such as *Carex spp.* and *Eriophorum vaginatum L.*, are represented in many different plant communities, but are often dominating in wet communities such as lawns, since they have the ability to transport oxygen down to the roots in aerenchymatous tissues and are therefore more sensitive to anoxic conditions and, therefore, is dominating in dryer communities such as hummocks (Malmer *et al.*, 1994).

#### 1.4 Carbon processes in mires and their controls

Carbon cycling in peatland ecosystems is conceptually illustrated in Figure 1. This model includes the atmospheric  $CO_2$  and two main pools of C in the mire (Ingram, 1978): the active C pool, often called the acrotelm, which is oxic or periodically oxic (depending on water table dynamics) and is where most of the growth and decay occurs; and the passive C pool, or catotelm, which is permanently anoxic with low rates of decomposition. This twopool model is a simplification of the system and the boundary between the acrotelm and catotelm is much less pronounced in fens compared to ombrotrophic bogs (Ingram, 1978). The C is brought into the system by the photosynthesis of plants, here denoted as gross primary production (GPP), and introduced to the active C pool as aboveground or belowground biomass or root exudates, i.e. soluble sugars exuded from plants in a process that improves the mineralization and uptake of nutrients (Nardi et al., 2000). The output of C from the system is controlled by various mineralization processes, including autotrophic respiration (R<sub>4</sub>), heterotrophic respiration (R<sub>11</sub>), fermentation, CH<sub>4</sub> production and oxidation, and/or transport of C out of the system by runoff.



*Figure 1.* Conceptual model of the carbon pools and pathways in a mire ecosystem. This model includes three main pools of carbon:  $CO_2$  in the atmosphere, the active C pool and the passive C pool. The carbon is brought into the system as gross photosynthesis (GPP). Ecosystem respiration is the sum of all  $CO_2$  emitted from the mire and is dominated by autotrophic and heterotrophic respiration ( $R_A$  and  $R_H$ , respectively). ME and MO are the processes of  $CH_4$  production and oxidation, respectively. The dotted line indicates the mean water table (MWT).

#### 1.4.1 Gross primary production

The gross photosynthesis is heavily dependent on the photosynthetically active radiation (PAR),  $CO_2$  concentration, water supply, temperature and leaf area index. The potential GPP in a particular mire site is reflected by its plant community composition, which in turn is mainly controlled by the nutrient availability and average water table depth of the site (Lindroth *et al.*, 2007; Riutta *et al.*, 2007). The photosynthetic potential varies between plant species, but vascular plants have higher light-response levels for fixation of  $CO_2$  than mosses such as *Sphagnum* sp. (Marschall & Proctor, 2004).

Therefore, larger green area of vascular plants generally increase GPP (Riutta *et al.*, 2007) Among vascular plants, approximately 90% of the fixed C is allocated to below-ground tissues (Sjörs, 1991; Wallén, 1986).

#### 1.4.2 Ecosystem respiration

Formally, respiration is a redox-reaction in which external electronacceptors are used in the transformation of organic substrates to energy, biomass, CO2 and water. However, in this thesis ecosystem respiration (R<sub>ero</sub>) is defined as all processes that yield CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from the peat surface to the atmosphere, including both fermentation and respiratory processes. R<sub>eco</sub> is almost entirely dominated by autotrophic and heterotrophic respiration. Autotrophic respiration includes respiration from the whole root system, and is controlled by the inflow of photosynthetic sugar to above and below ground respiratory systems (Högberg & Read, 2006). The size of autotrophic respiration is thus influenced by the same factors that control GPP, but in addition the nutrient status of the soil may affect the partitioning of sugars between the above and below ground systems (van Noordwijk et al., 1998). Heterotrophic respiration includes respiration associated with the microbial decomposition of organic material, mostly plant litter. Decomposition rates in peatlands are generally limited by the quality of the organic material, the oxygen content which is regulated by the water level, temperature and the nutrient status of the soil (Laiho, 2006). In the absence of oxygen and other external electron acceptors, the mineralization of C cannot be linked to respiration. Instead there will be a stepwise transformation of C by different types of fermenting bacteria, from polymers to simpler molecules, such as acetate. The contribution of fermentation to the total CO<sub>2</sub> production depends on the water table but is relatively small. However, the role of fermenting bacteria is central to the transformation of organic matter in anaerobic systems (Fenchel et al., 1998).

#### 1.4.3 $CH_4$ production, oxidation and emission

The CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from mires are reflected by the balance between CH<sub>4</sub> production in the anoxic zone and CH<sub>4</sub> oxidation in the oxic zone. CH<sub>4</sub> production is the final step in the anaerobic mineralization of organic material. Two types of methanogens are responsible for the CH<sub>4</sub> production: H<sub>2</sub>/CO<sub>2</sub> methanogens use H<sub>2</sub> as an electron donor and reduce CO<sub>2</sub> to CH<sub>4</sub>, while acetoclastic methanogens transform acetate to CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> (Fenchel et al., 1998). The main controls on CH<sub>4</sub> production are substrate availability and quality, water level, and temperature. Substrates for methanogens are produced by fermentation of plant litter or plant root

exudates (Joabsson *et al.*, 1999b). The methanogenic population is mainly located just below MWT, as close as possible to the plant root matrix, where their requirements for both anoxic conditions and high substrate availability are met (Sundh *et al.*, 1994). In addition, methanogenesis may be suppressed by competition from other microorganisms using other electron acceptors, such as nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>), ferric iron (Fe<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup>) and SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> (Conrad, 1989).

The  $CH_4$  produced is either oxidized by methanotrophs in the oxic zone or transported to the atmosphere. The methanotrophs that oxidize  $CH_4$  in the oxic zone are directly dependent on access to  $CH_4$  and oxygen (King, 1994). Therefore,  $CH_4$  oxidation is concentrated in the oxic zone close to MWT (Sundh *et al.*, 1994), or close to the roots of vascular plants (King, 1994), where the supplies of both  $CH_4$  and oxygen are optimal. The efficiency of methanotrophs in oxidizing the produced  $CH_4$  varies between systems, but is generally in the range 20 to 50% (Conrad, 1996).

 $CH_4$  is emitted to the atmosphere through diffusion, ebullition or plantmediated transport in aerenchymal tissues. In the presence of vascular plants, the plant-mediated transport seems to dominate (Greenup *et al.*, 2000; Schimel, 1995; Whiting & Chanton, 1992; Sebacher *et al.*, 1985). Sedges, such as *E. vaginatum L*, the dominating vascular plants on ombrotrophic lawn communities, are important contributors to  $CH_4$  emissions since they both provide root exudates as potential substrates for methanogens in the anoxic zone and can function as a transport path for  $CH_4$  to the atmosphere (Joabsson *et al.*, 1999b). Dwarf shrubs are not known to stimulate  $CH_4$ emissions, since they do not have aerenchymal tissues and generally have more superficial roots (Malmer *et al.*, 1994). Ebullition of  $CH_4$  may also be substantial (Glaser *et al.*, 2004; FechnerLevy & Hemond, 1996). Bubbles of  $CH_4$  can be trapped in the root matrix, especially during periods of high  $CH_4$  production, and released when the atmospheric pressure or water level changes (FechnerLevy & Hemond, 1996).

#### 1.4.4 Carbon export through runoff

While the input of C through runoff to a mire is generally small, the export through runoff can be substantial. For example, in a two-year study of the C budget of Degerö Stormyr, the boreal mire that was the focus of Studies I-IV, 34%, on average, of the annual net  $CO_2$ -C uptake was found to be exported through runoff, when all C fluxes were accounted for (Nilsson *et al.*, 2008). Similarly, Roulet *et al.* (2007) found the corresponding proportion of 6-year mean NEE-C to be 37% in an ombrotrophic bog in Canada. In Studies I-IV, the runoff component could not be account for,

since they focused on C exchange within the experimental plots rather than a whole mire ecosystem.

# 1.5 Effects of nitrogen deposition, sulfur deposition and increased temperature on mire biogeochemistry

In mires with low anthropogenic N deposition, the availability of N and other nutrients is often extremely low and Sphagnum mosses retain free nutrients highly effectively (Clymo, 1963). However, if rates of N deposition are high, the cover of Sphagnum mosses is usually reduced, due to both direct effects of unbalanced accumulation of nitrogen (Gunnarsson & Rydin, 2000) and indirect effects of competition from vascular plants (Limpens et al., 2003; Malmer et al., 2003). Shifts in vegetation from Sphagnum-dominated to vascular plant-dominated peatlands have been observed both in N gradient studies (Berendse et al., 2001) and field N manipulation studies (Wiedermann et al., 2007). Since vegetation composition affects the GPP of plant communities, the nature of the organic material, decomposition rates and emissions of CH<sub>4</sub> in peatlands, these shifts in vegetation composition may strongly influence the C balance and greenhouse gas dynamics. In addition, it has been reported that different forms of N may be inhibitory for both methanogens (Kluber & Conrad, 1998) and methanotrophs (Crill et al., 1994). The deposition of N has increased successively since 1950 and increased N supply in many ecosystems. Despite international restrictions on the release of N pollutants the deposition is still high in south-western Sweden (10-20 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, based on values for 2007 extracted from the website of the European Monitoring and Evaluation Programme (EMEP), http://webdab.emep.int/ Unified Model Results/AN/).

There have only been a few observations of effects of high S deposits or supplies on mire vegetation and GPP, but high concentrations of bisulfate may be toxic to *Sphagnum* species (Ferguson & Lee, 1979). Reductions in the photosynthetic capacity of *Sphagnum* following S supplements have also been observed in a long-term manipulation experiment on a minerogenic oligotrophic mire (Granath *et al.*, 2009), although no effects of the treatment on *Sphagnum* cover or biomass were observed (Gunnarsson *et al.*, 2004). On the other hand, S deposition is considered to be a strong regulator of CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from mires, since sulfate-reducing bacteria (SRB) are stronger competitors for substrates than methanogens (Conrad, 1989). Reductions in CH<sub>4</sub> production and CH<sub>4</sub> emissions induced by SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> have been observed in both laboratory (e.g. Yavitt *et al.*, 1987) and *in situ* manipulations (e.g.

Dise & Verry, 2001). Further, according to a meta-analysis by Gauci et al. (2004) such reductions is increase with increases in the S deposition rate up to approximately 30% at 20 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. Although S deposition rates successfully have been reduced through international agreements, purifications of the combustion of fossil fuels and shifts to renewable energy sources, some regions in Europe still have substantial inputs (up to 20 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>  $vr^{-1}$ ; according to data provided bv EMEP, http://webdab.emep.int/Unified Model Results/AN/. In addition, the effects of S deposition on peatland biogeochemistry may be long lasting since reduced or organically bound S can be reoxidized to SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> again (Freeman et al., 1994).

Temperature is considered to be a key determinant of plant and soil processes that acts both directly and indirectly. Increases in temperature may affect plant production (Chivers et al., 2009; Myneni et al., 1997), alter plant community composition (Wiedermann et al., 2007; Weltzin et al., 2003) and increase nutrient mineralization (Rustad et al., 2001). Heterotrophic respiration, fermentation and the production and oxidation of CH, may respond directly to increased temperature, but the responses are modulated by the amount and quality of the C source (Davidson & Janssens, 2006; Ågren & Bosatta, 2002; Bergman et al., 1998). Methanogens are known to have stronger temperature responses than methanotrophs (Dunfield et al., 1993), thus CH, emissions may be stimulated by temperature increases (Bellisario et al., 1999). In northern Sweden, summer temperatures is predicted to increase by 2.9 °C and summer precipitation is expected to increase 21% in the end of the 21<sup>th</sup> century (Lind & Kjellström, 2008). These predicted changes may have further indirect effects on plant and soil processes that influence the C balance of mires, including increases in the length of the growing season (Sagerfors, 2007; Myneni et al., 1997) and changes in the water balance (Chivers et al., 2009; Turetsky et al., 2008).

## 2 Material and methods

#### 2.1 Study site

The research this thesis is based upon was conducted at the site of a manipulation experiment at Degerö Stormyr (64°11' N, 19°33' E, altitude 270 m above sea level), a minerogenic, oligotrophic, mixed mire system located on a highland between two rivers, Vindelälven and Umeälven, 70 km northwest of Umeå, in the county of Västerbotten, Sweden. It covers an area of 6.5 km<sup>2</sup>, in total, and consists of a system of interconnected mires divided by ridges and islands of till. The site has been utilized for scientific research since the beginning of the 20th century (Malmström, 1923) and has later been described in detail by Granberg et al. (2001). The climate is characterized as cold temperate, humid with the 30-year (1961-1990) average annual precipitation and temperature of 523 mm and +1.2°C, respectively, while the average January and July temperatures are -12.4°C and +14.8°C, respectively. Snow depth is on average 0.6 m. The growing season, defined as the period when daily mean temperatures exceeds +5°C (Ångström et al., 1974), extends approximately from the beginning of May to the end of September.

The experimental site is located on a poor fen lawn with a peat depth of 4.5 m. The bottom vegetation layer is dominated by *Sphagnum balticum* (Russ) C. Jens. and *Sphagnum lindbergii* Schimp., and the field layer is dominated by the sedge *E. vaginatum L.* and the dwarf-shrubs *Andromeda polifolia* L. and *Vaccinium oxycoccos* L.



*Figure 2.* Aerial photograph of Degerö Stormyr view towards the southeast. The experimental site is located next to the red hut and the meteorological station is in the upper right of the photograph. (Photographer: Tomas Lundmark).



Figure 3. Photograph of the experimental site in July 2004. (Photographer: Tobias Eriksson).

#### 2.2 Experimental design and manipulations

To investigate the long-term effects of increased temperature and deposition of N and S on C exchange processes and C storage, experimental plots that were established at Degerö Stormyr in 1994 and have been treated since 1995 were observed. The original aim of the experiment was to study the effects on CH<sub>4</sub> emissions (Granberg et al., 2001), but more recently the plots have also been used in investigations of plant-composition changes (Wiedermann et al., 2007; Gunnarsson et al., 2004), plant-parasite interactions (Wiedermann et al., 2007) and plant physiological responses (Granath et al., 2009; Wiedermann et al., 2008). The experiment has a full factorial design, in which each of the three treatments are applied at two levels; a greenhouse treatment (GH) with GH, or no GH; N deposition at ambient levels (2 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) or 30 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>; S deposition at ambient levels (3 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) or 20 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. All combinations of treatments have been duplicated and, in addition, four midpoints have been included with additions of half the amounts of fertilizers applied in the high N and S treatments, hence in total there are 20 plots (Figure 4). The N and S deposition has been simulated by adding fertilizers five times, once a month between May and September. The greenhouse treatment, installed to increase air and soil temperature, was applied by enclosing plots with transparent polycarbonate frames and covering them with perforated plastic film during the snow-free period. Since this treatment not only increases air and soil temperatures within the plot, but also reduces PAR by 10-25%, reduces wind and change the humidity, we refer to it as a greenhouse treatment instead of a temperature treatment. For more details on the experimental design and setup, see Granberg et al., (2001).



*Figure 4.* Experimental setup of the field manipulations at Degerö Stormyr. The high nitrogen and high sulfur treatments are represented by the letters N and S, respectively, and the greenhouse treatment is indicated by shading. Treatments have been applied in all combinations. The combination "ns" represents half the dose of both N and S. Each plot contains a steel frame in the center for gas flux measurements, a water table tube (WT) for water table measurements, and temperature probes for soil temperature measurements at 3-5 levels. WT logg = well for continuous water table measurements. Redrawn from Granberg *et al.* (2001).

#### 2.3 Methods

#### 2.3.1 Measurements of climatic variables

Air temperature, precipitation and snow depth were all measured at a meteorological station 100 m from the experimental site. In addition, soil temperatures at 3-5 depths down to 42 cm and water table level were measured hourly throughout the year in the plots and in an area adjacent to the plots, respectively (Figure 4).

#### 2.3.2 Gas flux measurements (Papers II and III)

 $CH_4$  emissionswere measured between May and October 10 times in 2005 and 5 times in 2006, using closed chambers in which gas was sampled in evacuated vials over 6 minutes.  $CH_4$  concentrations in the sampled gas were then measured using a gas chromatograph (Perkin Elmer Autosystem, Waltham, MA, USA) equipped with an HS40 Autosampler, a HeySep Q column and a flame ionization detector. The  $CH_4$  emission rate, i.e. the change in concentration in the chamber over time, was calculated using the slope obtained from a linear regression model. All  $CH_4$  emission rates were transformed to obtain normal distribution.

For estimations of  $CO_2$  flux rates, we measured  $CO_2$  flux rates in chambers connected to an Infrared gas analyzer (IRGA), which recorded  $CO_2$  concentrations every 1.6 seconds. In addition, PAR was measured both inside and outside the chamber.  $R_{eco}$  was estimated from dark chamber measurements. Light (transparent) chambers were used for estimating NEE under current light conditions. In order to compare GPP and NEE values of different plots the light response of every plot was characterized by incrementally shading them with 2-3 layers of netted fabric to vary the PAR reaching the vegetation. GPP was then calculated as the difference between NEE and  $R_{eco}$  at every PAR level, and GPP responses to PAR were modeled using a simple Michaelis-Menten hyperbolic function (e.g. Bubier *et al.*, 1998):

$$GPP(PAR) = \frac{V_{\max} \cdot PAR}{PAR + K}$$

where  $V_{max}$  is the rate of photosynthesis at light saturation. K is the level of PAR at which GPP is half of  $V_{max}$ , expressing the sensitivity of GPP to PAR at low radiation levels. Throughout this thesis NEE is considered to be downward flux from the atmosphere to the soil.

#### 2.3.3 Peat incubations (Papers I and II)

In order to investigate treatment effects on rates of  $CH_4$  production and  $CH_4$  oxidation potentials, a peat incubation experiment was performed in 2007. Peat cores from all experimental plots were collected and transported to the laboratory. The peat cores (43 cm long) were divided into five sections after removal of the photosynthetic active part (3 cm) from the top. Then, samples from all plots and all levels were incubated to determine their  $CH_4$  production or  $CH_4$  oxidation potentials.

Peat samples for determining  $CH_4$  production were incubated in bottles with: (1) glucose, to obtain potential  $CH_4$  production rates with no substrate limitations; (2) no additions, estimate  $CH_4$  production rates at ambient substrate availability; and (3) additions of  $SO_4^{2-}$  to assess  $CH_4$  production with competition from SRB, and hence, the potential inhibition of the SRB community. The aerobic atmosphere in the incubation bottles was replaced with N<sub>2</sub>, and the bottles were shaken on a rotary shaker for an hour prior to gas sampling. Headspace gas samples (1 ml) were taken each day for five days and analyzed using a gas chromatograph with the same settings as in Study I (see section 2.3.2). Thereafter,  $CH_4$  production rates were determined by linear regression.

 $CH_4$  oxidation potentials in each section of cores from the plots were determined by aerobic incubations of the peat together with additions of  $CH_4$  (~1500ppm in headspace; (Moore & Dalva, 1997; Sundh *et al.*, 1994). Incubation mixtures were constantly shaken on a rotary shaker and their headspace gas was sampled every third hour for 15 hours. Rates of  $CH_4$  oxidation potentials were determined in the same way as for  $CH_4$  production rates. For more details of the sampling and incubation procedure, see Paper I.

In Study I the incubations were used to evaluate both the field treatment effects and the effects of the laboratory amendments, while in Study II we used the incubations to evaluate the vertical distribution of  $CH_4$  production and  $CH_4$  oxidation potentials.

#### 2.3.4 Peat density, height growth and C contents (Paper IV)

In Study IV, effects of the field treatments on the C stores in the peat profile down to 43 cm were evaluated. For this purpose, reliable estimates of the peat density, its C content, and increments in peat height are needed. Therefore, 43-cm peat cores were carefully sampled in 2007 to avoid compaction. Peat density was estimated from measurements of peat volume and dry weight every 4 cm along each core. Dried and milled samples were analyzed for C content. The height growth of the mire surface since the start of the experiment was estimated using two reference points in each plot: (1) ) the uppermost probe for measuring peat temperature in each plot was installed at the start of the experiment 2 cm from the peat surface, and in 2005 the distance from the surface to the uppermost probes was remeasured; (2) the cables for the probes were placed on the peat surface at the start of the experiment, and in 2007 the distances from the surface to the cables were measured; (3) water levels were measured in each plot during 2005 and 2006, and the MWT in each plot was used as a height reference. The effects of N and S additions, and the greenhouse treatment, were evaluated on the increments of peat height and (at each investigated depth) its bulk density, C concentration and C content. The accumulation rates of C were evaluated by calculating the cumulative C content for each of the depth intervals 0-8, 0-16, 0-24, 0-32 and 0-40 cm. All evaluations were preceded by adjustments for treatment effects on height growth of peat. For more details, see Paper IV.

#### 2.4 Statistical approach

The same statistical approach was applied in all of the studies to evaluate treatment effects on specific components of the C balance. The factorial design of the experiment made it possible to evaluate both main effects (GH, N and S) and interactions (GH×N, GH×S and S×N) in multiple linear regression (MLR) models.

In Papers II and III, we also included sedge cover (SC) and MWT as covariates in the models. Both of these variables influence  $CH_4$  processes and  $CO_2$  flux components, thus their effects may mask treatment effects if they are not considered. However, in the field manipulation experiment the variations in SC and MWT emanate from both random differences due to natural small-scale variations and responses to the experimental manipulations. In order to distinguish these two sources of variation, SC and MWT were used as response variables in separate models that included all treatments (main effects and two-way interactions of GH, S and N), as follows:

$$SC = \beta_0 + \beta_1 GH + \beta_2 S + \beta_3 N + \beta_4 GHxS + \beta_5 GHxN + \beta_6 SxN + \varepsilon_{sc}$$

and

$$MWT = \beta_0 + \beta_1 GH + \beta_2 S + \beta_3 N + \beta_4 GHxS + \beta_5 GHxN + \beta_6 SxN + \varepsilon_{MWT}$$

where  $\beta$  is the parameter for each factor and  $\mathbf{\mathcal{E}}_{sc}$  and  $\mathbf{\mathcal{E}}_{MWT}$  are the residuals of each model. The residuals represent the unexplained variance, i.e. the variation in sedge cover and microtopography, respectively, that is not related to the experimental treatments. These residuals were then included as covariates in the CH<sub>4</sub> emission models in Paper II and the GPP, NEE and R<sub>rep</sub> models in Paper III.

In Studies II and III, all coefficients, including the main effects, interactions and covariates, were retained in the MLR models even if they were not significant. The coefficient for a certain term could then be compared between measurement times, thereby allowing seasonal trends to be studied.

In Studies I and IV, the MLR models were reduced to only include significant (p<0.05) or close to significant (p<0.10) coefficients, since no seasonal trends were to be examined.

## 3 Results and discussion

# 3.1 Treatment effects on vegetation and microtopography (Papers I-IV)

Observations at the experimental site showed that, after 11 years, N additions of 30 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> had resulted in *Sphagnum* cover declining from 100% to 16% and *E. vaginatum L.* cover increasing from 37% to 65% in the field layer (Figure 5). Changes in vegetation cover following N additions have been reported in a number of studies (e.g. Breeuwer *et al.*, 2009; Bubier *et al.*, 2003; Berendse *et al.*, 2001), and at N-treated plots at Degerö Stormyr successive changes in vegetation have been observed towards higher densities of vascular plants and lower densities of *Sphagnum* after 1–3 years (Granberg *et al.*, 2001), after four years (Gunnarsson *et al.*, 2004) and after eight years (Wiedermann *et al.*, 2007). Our results corroborate these trends in vegetation community composition associated with N applications, which correspond well with observed changes in plant community composition and ecophysiology in areas that have received high anthropogenic N depositions (12 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) for more than 30 years (Wiedermann *et al.*, 2008).

In addition, N deposition has changed the microtopography of the peatland surface, e.g. the distance from the surface to the mean water table is now 4.6 cm shorter, on average, in plots with high N deposition (Figure 5). This effect on microtopography most likely emanates from the change in peat litter composition and increased decomposition (Bohlin *et al.*, 1989). The changes in both vegetation community composition and microtopography have the potential to affect  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  exchange processes and carbon storage.

In addition to effects from N, there are also significant effects on the cover of sedges both from S and GH treatments; the positive effect of N additions on sedge cover is reduced in combination with S additions and slightly stimulated in combination with the GH treatment (Figure 5).



*Figure 5.* Modeled effects of greenhouse cover, and nitrogen and sulfur deposition, on vegetation cover and the distance to the mean water table at Degerö Stormyr in 2006. The bars for *E. vaginatum* and *Sphagnum* cover represent changes in percent cover compared to untreated plots. The model variables GH, S, N, GH×S, GH×N and S×N represent the greenhouse treatment, the sulfur treatment, the nitrogen treatment and their two-way interactions, respectively. Proportions of explained variance (and significance) of the models for the cover of *Eriophorum*, *Sphagnum* and MWT, respectively, were 0.88 (p<0.001), 0.80 (p<0.001) and 0.68 (p<0.01). The error bars represent 95 % confidence intervals. Error bars which do not overlap the zero line indicate that the coefficient is significant (p<0.05).

# 3.2 Treatment effects on production, oxidation and emissions of CH<sub>4</sub> (Papers I and II)

In Studies I and II we investigated the effects of greenhouse cover and deposition of N and S on production and oxidation of  $CH_4$  and on  $CH_4$  emissions, respectively. From measurements of  $CH_4$  emission rates taken during two growing seasons (on 10 occasions in 2005 and five in 2006), we detected significant effects of the treatments. In addition, the effects of treatments on  $CH_4$  emissions corresponded well with their effects on  $CH_4$  production. Despite >10 years of treatment only minor effects were found on  $CH_4$  oxidation potentials.



*Figure 6.* Coefficients of models describing  $CH_4$  emission rates during the growing seasons of 2005 and 2006, including main effects of the GH, N and S treatments, interactions and covariates. The coefficients are centered, scaled, and presented as  $(CH_4 + 1)^{0.25}$ . Vertical bars represent the seasonal average  $CH_4$  emission rates and circles represent the  $CH_4$  emission rates on each separate measurement occasion. Error bars represent 95 % confidence intervals, and coefficients significantly (p < 0.05) different from zero are indicated by filled (black) circles or bars.

#### 3.2.1 Effects of long-term nitrogen additions

My results showed that N additions over 11 years had stimulated  $CH_4$  emission rates and, although significant effects were not observed on every single occasion, there were clear seasonal trends, manifested in significant effects on seasonal average  $CH_4$  emissions (Figure 6c, g-h). The positive effects of N addition on  $CH_4$  emission are opposite to those found in the same experiment after three years of the treatments (Granberg *et al.*, 2001), highlighting the importance of long-term experiments. However, the N additions did not have positive effects in combination with high S additions (Figure 7b and c).



*Figure* 7. Effects of the significant interaction terms on  $CH_4$  emission rates, calculated from the model coefficients. The graphs indicate the interaction effects on the seasonal average  $CH_4$  emission rates of a) greenhouse cover and nitrogen (GH×N) in 2005, b) sulfur and nitrogen (S×N) in 2005 and c) sulfur and nitrogen (S×N) in 2006.

Similarly, the rate of CH<sub>4</sub> production at the level of the highest production rate (CH4<sub>MAX</sub>) was increased by up to 35% by the N treatment (p < 0.05after glucose amendment, and p = 0.09 without amendments; Figure 8a and b). I believe that these effects of N on both the methanogenic population and CH<sub>4</sub> emissions emanate from the nitrogen-induced changes in vegetation community composition and microtopography. High densities of sedges such as *E. vaginatum L.* are known to stimulate CH<sub>4</sub> emissions both by increasing CH<sub>4</sub> production by providing more potential substrates to the methanogens (Saarnio *et al.*, 2004) and by providing a transport channel for CH<sub>4</sub> in the aerenchymal tissues (Joabsson & Christensen, 2001; Greenup *et al.*, 2000). The change in microtopography, with higher MWT in N fertilized plots, increases the volume ratio between the anoxic and oxic zones and promotes CH<sub>4</sub> production on the expense of CH<sub>4</sub> oxidation (Sundh *et al.*, 1994). No effect on the  $CH_4$  oxidation potential was detected (see Paper I). This suggests that it is insensitive to increased in sedge cover, higher MWT and stimulated  $CH_4$  production at this site. Similarly, in a comparison of different plant communities,  $CH_4$  oxidation was not correlated by neither MWT,  $CH_4$  production or  $CH_4$  emission (Sundh *et al.*, 1994)



*Figure 8.* Effects of field additions of nitrogen on  $CH_4$  production in the peat profile. In order to compare the average production rates between plots, the depth of maximal production rates for each peat profile was set to zero. Each graph represents the main effect (n = 8) of nitrogen after (a) no laboratory amendments and (b) laboratory glucose amendments. Error bars represent  $\pm 1$  standard error and the asterisks indicate the significance of the differences between the high N and the low N plots at the depth of maximal CH<sub>4</sub> production (\* p < 0.05; \*\* p < 0.01; \*\*\* p < 0.001). P-values between 0.05 – 0.10 are stated in the graphs.

Other studies that have evaluated effects of experimental N additions on  $CH_4$  emissions from mires have been mainly short-term (<3 years), and at most minor effects on vegetation cover have been observed, with effects on  $CH_4$  emissions ranging from negative to slightly positive (Granberg *et al.*, 2001; Saarnio *et al.*, 2000; Aerts & de Caluwe, 1999; Saarnio & Silvola, 1999). A study by Nykänen *et al.* (2002) found that a Finnish bog dominated by *S. fuscum* showed a small but significant increase in  $CH_4$  emissions after six years of N fertilization (100 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>), associated with a tendency towards increased cover of *E. vaginatum L.* In a study by Keller et al. (2005) six years of fertilization (20 and 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) of a fen

in Minnesota increased the cover of dwarf shrubs, but no effect was observed on CH, emissions. Due to the relatively short time-span of N additions in the abovementioned studies the observed changes are likely to represent early stages of ongoing transitions of the vegetation community composition (if the experiments continue). Our results (Papers I and II) show long-term effects of N, more similar to those observed in mires that are in a steady state with respect to community composition and plant ecophysiology after > 30 years of increased N deposition (Wiedermann *et* al., 2008). However, the effect on CH<sub>4</sub> emissions depends on which components of plant communities are reduced and stimulated, respectively, by the N deposition. In mires where N additions have increased the cover of shrubs rather than sedges (Keller et al., 2005) different responses in CH. emissions can be expected, since shrubs may interact differently with the methanogenic and methanotrophic microbial communities, compared to sedges, among other things because they have a more superficial root system (Malmer et al., 1994) and no aerenchymatic tissue (Rydin & Jeglum, 2006).

#### 3.2.2 Effects of long-term sulfur additions

The long-term S additions did not have any negative effect on CH, emissions, rather a positive effect at low N additions (Figure 6b and h; 7b and c). Neither was any reduction in CH4<sub>MAX</sub> found and a significant reduction in CH4 production was only found higher up in the peat profile, 8 cm above CH4<sub>Max</sub> (Figure 9a-c). These results were not what was hypothesized and highly unexpected since SRB have been shown to outcompete methanogens for substrates in the presence of SO<sup>2-</sup> (e.g. Yavitt et al., 1987). Indeed, in our incubation experiment (Paper II) CH<sub>4</sub> production was reduced after laboratory additions of SO4<sup>2-</sup> to samples representing all field treatments, by on average 55%, but not reduced more in samples from plots with long-term field S additions than in samples from plots with ambient S deposition (Figure 9c). There were tendencies, although weak, that CH<sub>4</sub> oxidation potentials were stimulated by the S deposition (see Paper I). Most studies, although not long-term studies, suggest that S deposition tends to decrease CH<sub>4</sub> emissions, to an extent that depends on the S deposition rate, reaching a 30% reduction in CH, emissions at 20 kg S deposition ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (Gauci et al., 2004 and therein). We suggest two explanations to the contrasting effects found in our study. Firstly, reductions in CH<sub>4</sub> production are confined to a level just above the level of CH4<sub>MAX</sub>, suggesting stratification in the profile in accordance with expected redox conditions; most of the SRB:s are found high in the profile, closer to the SO42- source, while the methanogenic organisms are most

abundant further down, making competition less obvious (Conrad, 1996). Secondly, the timing of the  $CH_4$  emission measurements in relation to the application of the S additions may be important. In our field study  $CH_4$  emissions were measured at least two weeks after the most recent addition, so most of the added  $SO_4^{2-}$  could have been reduced prior to the measurement occasion. The fact that added  $SO_4^{2-}$  has been shown to be reduced to undetectable levels within three weeks after addition to the experimental site supports this explanation (I. Bergman, unpublished data). If this is valid, the  $SO_4^{2-}$  pool was dependent on reoxidation of previously reduced S from water table fluctuations and drought events, or on mineralization of organically bound S (Blodau & Moore, 2003; Freeman *et al.*, 1994).



*Figure 9.* Effects of field additions of sulfur on CH<sub>4</sub> production in the peat profile. Each graph represents the main effect (n = 8) of sulfur after (a) no laboratory amendments and (b) laboratory glucose amendments and (c) laboratory sulfate amendments. Error bars represent  $\pm$  1 standard error and the asterisks indicate the significance of differences between the high S and the low S plots at the depth 8 cm above maximal CH<sub>4</sub> production (\* p < 0.05; \*\* p < 0.01; \*\*\* p < 0.001). P-values between 0.05 – 0.10 are stated in the graphs.

#### 3.2.3 Effects of long-term greenhouse treatment

The greenhouse treatment appeared to have reduced  $CH_4$  emissions by 30% during 2005, but only had minor apparent effects in 2006 (Figure 6a; Paper II). In addition,  $CH4_{MAX}$  was reduced by more than 30% by the GH treatment, due to both substrate limitations and differences in the potential  $CH_4$  production (Figure 10a and b; Paper I). No effect on potential  $CH_4$  oxidation was detected (See Paper I). The difference in apparent  $CH_4$ 

emission responses to the GH treatment between the two years probably reflects the contrasting weather conditions between the years. Dry conditions in 2006 decreased the water table to below 40 cm, compared to the average of ca. 14 cm across the area in the period 2004-2006, thereby significantly reducing CH, emissions (Paper II). Most likely this reduction obscured possible treatment effects. Similar differences between a wet and a dry year have been observed in a temperature manipulation experiment in an Alaskan fen (Turetsky et al., 2008). The negative effects found in 2005 in this study differ from reported stimulations of CH, emissions following short-term (2-3 years) temperature manipulations of peatlands, including: open chamber warming in an Alaskan fen (Turetsky et al., 2008), infrared warming in fen and bog mesocosms in Minnesota (Updegraff et al., 2001) and early stages of the greenhouse cover warming at Degerö Stormyr (Granberg et al., 2001). However, there are strong indications that the positive effects found in the last two of these studies may have been transient, since no effects were found on CH<sub>4</sub> production (Keller et al., 2004) or CH<sub>4</sub> emission (White et al., 2008) after 5-6 years of warming in the mesocosms in Minnesota and results presented in Papers I and II suggest that both CH<sub>4</sub> production and CH<sub>4</sub> emissions declined after 10-12 years of the greenhouse treatment. The mechanism behind these reductions in CH, production and emission is coupled to changes in substrate quality and availability. A key factor controlling the partitioning of peat-forming organic matter into CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> is the degree of decomposition under oxic conditions before the material reaches the anoxic zone (Nilsson & Öquist, 2009). The organic matter in the oxic zone may decompose more rapidly in the GH plots, due to the higher temperature, and hence be more decomposed when it reaches the anoxic zone. An experimental artifact induced by the greenhouse cover that should be considered is the 10-25% reduction of PAR. In a shading experiments on peatland sites dominated by E. vaginatum L. and Sphagnum mossses, a 60% reduction in PAR reduced GPP by 25% and CH<sub>4</sub> production by 20% (Öquist & Svensson, 2002). Assuming that the response between PAR and CH, production is linear, a 10-25% reduction in PAR would account for a 3-10% reduction in CH. production, which is less than the reduction from greenhouse cover in this study.



*Figure 10.* Effects of the greenhouse treatment (GH) on CH<sub>4</sub> production in the peat profile. Each graph represents the main effect (n = 8) of GH after (a) no laboratory amendments and (b) laboratory glucose amendment. Error bars represent  $\pm 1$  standard error and the asterisks indicate the significance of differences between plots with GH and no GH at the depth of maximal CH<sub>4</sub> production (\* p < 0.05; \*\* p < 0.01; \*\*\* p < 0.001). P-values between 0.05 – 0.10 are stated in the graphs.

#### 3.3 Treatment effects on CO, flux components (Paper III)

In Study III, we investigated treatment effects on each of three  $CO_2$  flux components of the system (GPP,  $R_{eco}$  and NEE) based on  $R_{eco}$  measurements collected over two years and measurements of GPP and NEE collected over one year. The effects on GPP and NEE were evaluated at two different levels of PAR, calculated from the estimated light response functions of each plot at four different occasions.

#### 3.3.1 Effects of long-term nitrogen additions

Significant effects of N on GPP were found only on one single date and were positive, but only in combination with low S additions (see Paper III). At high S additions no such effect was detected. Possible effects during the other measurement dates could have been masked by the extremely dry conditions in July-August in 2006. In addition, the precision of the GPP (and NEE) estimates are not as accurate as those of  $R_{eco}$ , which are based on direct measurements. Significant effects of N on  $R_{eco}$  were only detected on a few occasions, but coefficients for N were positive in  $R_{eco}$  models for most

of the individual sampling occasions in both years, strongly indicating that the N treatments enhanced  $R_{eco}$  (Figure 11c) The effect on the seasonal average  $R_{eco}$  was 13% (p = 0.09) in 2005 and 21% (p = 0.03) in 2006. There were also strong indications of interactions with S, similar to patterns found when evaluating the effects of the treatments on GPP and CH<sub>4</sub> emission; R<sub>eco</sub> was stimulated by N additions at low S additions, but less so at high S additions (Figure 11h). Our results do not reveal whether autotrophic, heterotrophic respiration (or both) has been stimulated. However, as mentioned above, litter from vascular plants is known to decompose more rapidly than Sphagnum litter, suggesting that the heterotrophic component has been affected. Despite the effect on R<sub>ero</sub>, no effect of N deposition on NEE was detected (Paper IV). Only a few other studies have evaluated effects of field experiments with simulated N deposition on NEE and related flux components in boreal peatlands. Short-term (2-3 years) N manipulations have resulted in no significant change in NEE; in two experiments both GPP and Reco were stimulated and cancelled each other out (Lund et al., 2009; Saarnio et al., 2003) and in one experiment neither GPP nor R<sub>co</sub> was effected (Lund et al., 2009). In a study by Bubier et al. (2007), six years of N deposition only affected GPP and NEE negatively at high N deposition (100 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) in combination with high additions of phosphorous and potassium. It should be noted that none of these studies have detected dramatic changes in plant community composition.

Concerns have been raised that increased N deposition will decrease or even terminate the accumulation of C in mires (Gunnarsson et al., 2008; Bragazza et al., 2006; Berendse et al., 2001), the mechanisms being increased decomposition induced by the shift in the plant community composition from dominance by Sphagnum with low decomposition rates to dominance by graminoides and dwarf shrubs (Gunnarsson et al., 2008; Berendse et al., 2001) that are more easily decomposed (e.g. Breeuwer et al., 2008; Coulson & Butterfield, 1978) or increased decomposition as an effect of increased availability of N for microorganisms (Bragazza et al., 2006). Neither the results in Paper III nor the other field investigations of C exchange described above have detected any negative effects on NEE due to N deposition. However, our results for GPP and NEE are only based on measurements taken in a single year, and measuring CO<sub>2</sub> exchange processes over several seasons would improve the understanding of the dynamics and the precision of estimated effects of NEE. The role of N deposition in the C accumulation is further discussed in section 3.4.



*Figure 11* Coefficients of models describing  $R_{eco}$  in 2005 and 2006, including main effects of the GH, N and S treatments, interactions and covariates. The coefficients are centered and scaled. Vertical bars represent the model coefficients of seasonal average  $R_{eco}$  and circles represent the model coefficients of R coefficients of seasonal average R coefficients of R coefficients of R coefficients (p < 0.05) are indicated by filled (black) circles or bars.

#### 3.3.2 Effects of long-term sulfur additions

The S treatment only had minor effects on the  $CO_2$  flux components (Figure 11b, f and h, and see Paper III). Although inhibition of photosynthetic potential by S deposition has been previously observed (Granath *et al.*, 2009; Ferguson & Lee, 1979), we observed no such effect on GPP. The impact of S addition on the  $CO_2$  carbon balance is most likely small.

#### 3.3.3 Effects of long-term greenhouse treatment

The GH treatment did not affect GPP, but a negative R<sub>eco</sub> response to the GH treatment was detected in the midseason of 2005, and no apparent effect during the other parts of the season, leading to a non-significant (p=0.09) reduction by 12% in the seasonal average  $R_{_{\rm eco}}$  (Figure 11a). The pattern was not repeated in 2006, possibly because of the drought in July-August (see Paper III). The reduction in Reco could possibly emanate from increases in the decomposition of labile C compounds associated with the long-term increases in temperature, and hence ultimately reductions in the quality of the C pool in the remaining soil matrix (Rustad et al., 2001; Peterjohn et al., 1994). In accordance with this hypothesis, a metaanalysis by Rustad et al. (2001) of warming experiments in a wide range of sites (including tundra, forests, peatlands and grasslands) found that generally significant stimulations in soil respiration during the first 2-3 years of warming was followed by two years of no significant effects on soil respiration, suggesting that warming treatments induce transient increases in respiration. Part of the reduction may also emanate from unintended secondary effects of the treatment; the 10-25% reductions in PAR by the greenhouse cover. Although no significant reduction in the potential GPP associated with the greenhouse treatment was observed, it is possible that this reduction in PAR could have caused a small reduction in actual GPP and belowground C allocation, thus affecting both autotrophic and heterotrophic respiration (Öquist & Svensson, 2002; Joabsson et al., 1999a). However, in the study by Shaver et al. (1998) six years of shading (reduction in PAR by 50%) of a wet sedge tundra in Alaska increased GPP, Rem as well as NEE, making the effect of the small reduction in PAR in this study difficult to predict but most likely small. Nevertheless, the overall effects on Revenue of the minor and not manifested in any significant change in NEE (see Paper III). Similarly, although other short-term warming experiments have found positive effects on both GPP and Ren, the NEE has been unaffected, in agreement with our results (Chivers et al., 2009; Sullivan et al., 2008; Hobbie & Chapin, 1998).

#### 3.4 Effects of nitrogen deposition on C accumulation (Paper IV)

In Study IV we focused on the effects of N deposition on the C pool by estimating the peat growth since the start of the experiment, the bulk density, the C concentration (%) and the volume-weighted content of C (g C dm<sup>-3</sup>) in the upper 40 cm of the peat profile. The peat height increment was in average 4.4 cm ( $\pm 1.6$  cm;  $\pm 1$ S.E.) lower in plots with high N additions and, similarly, 4.3 cm lower in the plots receiving intermediate N and S. On the other hand, several peat properties were significantly affected by N additions in ways that are likely to promote total C accumulation in the upper part of the peat profiles. The surface bulk density was significantly increased down to 14 cm depth by addition of N (Figure 12a), presumably due to the change in peat litter composition and in peat decomposition, which also are the controls of the changes in microtopography (Vitt et al., 2009; Bohlin et al., 1989). The C concentration (% C of dry mass) was increased between 4-24 cm by N additions (significantly at p < 0.05 at four depths and at p = 0.07 and p = 0.10, respectively, at two depths; Figure 12b) and the volume- weighted C content (g C dm<sup>-3</sup>) was significantly increased between 4-12 cm from the N treatment (Figure 12c). Analysis of the effects of C accumulation, represented by the cumulated C content at increasing depth intervals, also indicated that there was a significant negative effect of N in the 0-8 cm interval, a consequence of the additional 4 cm layer generated by the increased height growth in the low N plots (Table 1). However, even in the 0-12 cm interval the higher C content at each interval had counteracted the difference in height growth thus no significant N effect was found (Table 1).

A number of studies have raised concerns that shifts in plant community composition induced by N deposition, towards greater abundance of vascular plants at the expense of *Sphagnum* mosses (Wiedermann *et al.*, 2007; Berendse *et al.*, 2001; Gunnarsson & Rydin, 2000), will enhance the decomposition of the produced litter and thus reducte C accumulation (Gunnarsson *et al.*, 2008; Gunnarsson & Rydin, 2000). The long-term experiment with N additions at Degerö does not support this view; rather we found that rates of accumulation had not been significantly affected by 12 years of N additions (Table 1). There may be several reasons for this deviation from previous expectations. Firstly, if decomposition rates alone are used to evaluate long-term effects of N deposition on rates of C accumulation in northern peatlands (Bragazza *et al.*, 2006) potential responses of GPP will be missed. Hence, effects on decomposition and GPP, net primary production (NPP) or NEE must be considered. Secondly, if decomposition rates are used to evaluate long-term C accumulation,



*Figure 12*. Effects of nitrogen additions on the indicated peat properties. Peat depth refers to the depth below the mire surface and is adjusted for the larger height growth in the "low N" treatment. The points are positioned as midpoints in the 4-cm intervals. Error bars represent standard errors (SE) and the asterisks indicate the significance of differences between the high N and low N plots (\* p < 0.05; \*\* p < 0.01; \*\*\* p < 0.001) and p-values between 0.05 - 0.15 are stated in the graphs.

information on long-term decomposition rates is needed. It is well known that *Sphagnum* decomposes much more slowly than graminoides initially (e.g. Breeuwer *et al.*, 2008; Coulson & Butterfield, 1978), but the decomposition rates of the common graminoid *E. vaginatum* have been shown to be close to zero after 15-25 years at a residual weight of approximately 40% (Latter *et al.*, 1998). This shows that not all graminoides are easily decomposed and Latter *et al.* (1998) stress the irrelevance of initial mire plant decomposition data for inferring long-term C accumulation

properties. Thirdly, long-term experiments provide the best means to evaluate long-term effects of N deposition on C accumulation, since they allow effects of low and high N deposition rates in controlled environment to be compared.

Table 1.

Multiple linear regression model (MLR) coefficients<sup>a</sup> and statistics of carbon accumulation<sup>b</sup> at increasing depth intervals

Depth		Constant		$\operatorname{GH}^{d,e}$		Ν		S		Model statistics		
interval	n <sup>f</sup>	Coeff	р	Coeff	р	Coeff	р	Coeff	р	$R^{2,g}$	$\mathbb{R}^2$ adj.	р
0-8 cm	20	9.06	0.00	0.70	0.06	-0.80	0.05	n.s.	n.s.	0.33	0.26	0.03
0-12 cm	20	16.05	0.00	0.91	0.12	<i>n.s.</i>	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	0.13	0.08	0.12
0-16 cm	20	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
0-20 cm	20	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>

*a* All model coefficients are centered and scaled (i.e. the coefficients can be compared within each model).

 $b~{\rm Response}$  variables are the carbon accumulation for depth interval in units of g C  ${\rm dm}^{-2}$  .

 $\epsilon\,$  Model coefficients are included where p < 0.15; n.s. denotes coefficients with p > 0.15 .

*d* GH, S and N: Model coefficients for the main effects of greenhouse cover, sulfur deposition and nitrogen deposition, respectively.

 $e\,$  No interaction coefficients had p < 0.15 and were therefore not included in the models.

f n = numbers of samples included in the model evaluation.

 $g R^2$  = explained variance;  $R^2$ adj = adjusted  $R^2$ .

#### 3.5 Methodological considerations

#### 3.5.1 Chamber measurements

The static chamber technique is the most commonly used technique for flux measurements at experimental sites, but it has both advantages and disadvantages. It is simple, cheap, and it is easy to isolate a certain area of the ecosystem and thus study spatial variations in fluxes and compare effects of experimental treatments. It is also possible to separate the different  $CO_2$  flux components, NEE, GPP and  $R_{eco}$ , by covering the chamber with sheets of varying transparency. The disadvantages are that the method is very laborious, time-consuming and provides poor temporal resolution. The chamber technique also introduces several sources of potential error, e.g.

increasing the temperature and moisture while reducing  $CO_2$  concentrations inside the chamber, which may affect both  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$  flux measurements (e.g. Kutzbach *et al.*, 2007; Knapp & Yavitt, 1992).  $CO_2$  flux measurements are especially sensitive to these changes and plants respond quickly to reductions in concentrations of  $CO_2$  and increases in temperature (Kutzbach *et al.*, 2007). To reduce these problem we used short enclosure times (30 sec-4 min and 6-7 min for  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  flux measurements, respectively). In addition, increases in temperatures were minimized by shading the  $CH_4$  flux chambers with sun reflectors and by keeping the temperature inside the  $CO_2$  flux chambers to within  $\pm 5^{\circ}C$  of the outside temperature using an air-conditioning system.

#### 3.5.2 Statistical design and data evaluation

The experiment in this thesis is conducted according to a central composite design. Basically this is a full factorial design with three factors at two levels with an additional centerpoint with treatment levels intermediate to the high and low levels of the factorial design. However, intermediate treatment levels are used for two of the factors while the third only occur at two levels. This deviation from a complete central composite design results in some covariation between the experimental factors, i.e the design is not totally orthogonal. This unbalance in the design makes it difficult to evaluate the functional response between the factors and the response, but not the effects of the factors. To evaluate the degree of orthogonality in the design we have used condition numbers where a number < 3 indicates a good design, i.e. a very low degree of colinearity between the experimental factors. The design used in this experiment had a condition number at 1.2 when the whole design was used, i.e. when there was no loss in data. When covariates were included in the models the condition number was 3.0. All orthogonal designs fulfill the prerequisites for analysis by both analysis of variance (ANOVA) and multiple linear regression (MLR) models (for more details on these designs see e.g. Box et al., (1978)).

The data to be used as response variables have to fulfill the requirements of normal distribution. Only  $CH_4$  emission rates were found to not be normally distributed and were therefore transformed using a square root transformation. The full utilization of the experimental design also requires accepted response data for all treatment combinations. All flux components have loss in data that have affected the orthogonality of the design leaving it unbalanced in the statistical evaluation and may also have increased the uncertainty in the modeled MLR parameters. The condition numbers for the models of the different responses was within the following ranges: 1.2 –

3.1 for CH4 production and oxidation models, 3.0 - 4.3 for CH4 emission models, 1.2 for all C accumulation models, 3.0 - 3.5 for Reco models, and 3.4 - 5.8 for GPP and NEE models. Clearly, the problem with non-orthogonal models was primarily a problem in the models with GPP and NEE as responses. The complexity of both measurements and data evaluation for NEE and GPP provided a data loss, in average, of 30%, which resulted in weaker models. In addition, the GPP and NEE data are products from several steps of modeling prior the MLR analysis and this increased the uncertainty of the estimated fluxes. The uncertainty in the estimated GPP and NEE could be reduced in future surveys by including more levels of PAR and replicated measurements at each level of PAR in the light-response functions.

#### 3.6 Conclusions

- The results presented in this thesis show that long-term experiments are essential for evaluating effects of mire treatments with long effect time constants. Short-term effects are usually transient, since changes in plant community composition and ecophysiology properties, and changes in microtopography are time dependent.
- Long-term nitrogen additions have not only changed the plant community composition towards lower densities of *Sphagnum* species and higher densities of sedges and dwarf shrubs. The treatment has also changed the microtopography reducing the distance to the mean water table in nitrogen-fertilized plots. Both of these changes affect properties that play major roles in mire carbon biogeochemistry.
- Both CH<sub>4</sub> production and CH<sub>4</sub> emission are stimulated by the long-term nitrogen treatment, most likely as an effect of the increase of sedges, which promotes substrates for the methanogenic population and aerenchymatic transport of CH<sub>4</sub>, and an effect of changed microtopography which changes the volume ratio between anoxic and oxic conditions.
- The reduction in height growth in response to long-term nitrogen deposition was compensated for by increased bulk density and carbon content, leading to no significant effects on carbon accumulation. This is in agreement with the CO<sub>2</sub> exchange measurements during one growing season in 2006, where no effect on the net ecosystem exchange was

- Long-term deposition of sulfate did not have a negative effect on either CH<sub>4</sub> production or CH<sub>4</sub> emission. This may be partly because sulfate deposited at the surface may stratify between populations of the sulfatereducing bacteria and methanogens. However, the absence of negative effects may also be related to the time between application of fertilizers at this experimental site and the timing of the CH<sub>4</sub> flux measurements.
- The results of the greenhouse treatment suggest that the indirect effects of the treatment are much more important than the direct effects of temperature. The general view that temperature stimulates soil microbial processes was not supported by the findings of our studies. Rather the greenhouse treatment reduced CH<sub>4</sub> emission and CH<sub>4</sub> production, as well as R<sub>een</sub>, suggesting that it reduced the quality of the organic matter.

#### 3.7 Implications

This thesis has provided insights in how long-term of deposition of nitrogen and sulfur, and increased temperature, affects CH4 emissions, CO2 exchange and carbon accumulation. Many of our results are not in agreement with previous observations on the same matter, and this may have many possible explanations: (1) Many studies are not based on long-term experiments and observed effects may therefore only be transitory; (2) when evaluating effects by using natural gradients in deposition rates or temperature instead of field experiments, there are a lot of factors included that cannot be controlled for and there is a risk that the observed effect represents something else than intended; (3) the responses to treatments may differ between mire ecosystems and that observed effects may be unique to that system. For example, many systems may respond strongly to N deposition, in similar ways as in this system, but the effects on carbon exchange and storage may be different due to differences in plant species composition, hydrology and peat chemistry; (4) there are though restrictions also in using long-term experiments, since the manipulations are not a perfect reflection of reality.

I believe that these results may contribute to modify the view on how environmental changes, and in particular, nitrogen deposition affects  $CH_4$ emissions, carbon exchange and carbon accumulation. For example, we show that effects of N deposition do not necessarily decrease C accumulation in mires despite a shift to lower Sphagnum densities. Another example is that model predictions of responses in  $CH_4$  emission to increased temperatures suggest in general an increase in  $CH_4$  emissions from northern peatlands (Zhuang *et al.*, 2006; Walter & Heimann, 2000; Cao *et al.*, 1996). To my knowledge, the existing models do not take into account the effect of temperature on the quantity and quality of the organic matter before it reaches the anoxic zone. More information about both direct and indirect, long-term temperature effects on peat quality, net primary production and carbon allocation, for example, is needed before making more accurate predictions.

#### 3.8 Further research

This study has also left some "Whys", that are potential questions for further research:

- In general, we still do not know enough about the direct controls on the different effects we have seen. This could be improved by combining flux measurements with; pore water measurements of sugars, organic acids and amino acids; aerobic and anaerobic incubations for decomposition rates estimates and; applying labeling experiments to study below-ground carbon allocation patterns.
- A more thorough investigation is needed to cover both intra and inter seasonal variations in treatment effects on GPP, R<sub>eco</sub> and NEE, in order to be able to draw more firm conclusions CO<sub>2</sub> carbon exchange.
- The effects of N deposition on plant community composition and ecophysiological responses correspond well to the effects found in areas with more than 30 years of N deposition. However, plant litter in the upper 40 cm in the peat profile is still constituted by a mix of litter from different plant communities under transition. By studying an even longer-term experiment would reflect the changes in litter composition also in deeper peat layers.
- Further research on the response of CH<sub>4</sub> emissions and CH<sub>4</sub> production to the long-term S deposition is needed to investigate the mechanisms behind the effects. By measuring CH<sub>4</sub> emissions and tracing SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> transformations in the experiment in association to (before, during and after) the application of the S fertilizers to the plots, a better understanding of temporal dynamics in CH<sub>4</sub> emissions and interactions between methanogenic and SRB population, could be reached.

### References

- Aerts, R. & de Caluwe, H. (1999). Nitrogen deposition effects on carbon dioxide and methane emissions from temperate peatland soils. Oikos 84(1), 44-54.
- Ågren, G.I. & Bosatta, E. (2002). Reconciling differences in predictions of temperature response of soil organic matter. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* 34(1), 129-132.
- Ångström, A., Liljequist, G.H. & Wallén, C.C. (1974). *Sveriges klimat*. 3rd. ed. Stockholm, Sweden (in Swedish): Generalstabens litografiska anstalt 1974.
- Armstrong, W., Justin, S., Beckett, P.M. & Lythe, S. (1991). Root adaption to soil waterlogging. *Aquatic Botany* 39(1-2), 57-73.
- Bellisario, L.M., Bubier, J.L., Moore, T.R. & Chanton, J.P. (1999). Controls on CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from a northern peatland. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 13(1), 81–91.
- Berendse, F., Van Breemen, N., Rydin, H., Buttler, A., Heijmans, M., Hoosbeek, M.R., Lee, J.A., Mitchell, E., Saarinen, T., Vasander, H. & Wallen, B. (2001). Raised atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> levels and increased N deposition cause shifts in plant species composition and production in Sphagnum bogs. *Global Change Biology* 7(5), 591-598.
- Bergman, I., Svensson, B.H. & Nilsson, M. (1998). Regulation of methane production in a Swedish acid mire by pH, temperature and substrate. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* 30(6), 729-741.
- Blodau, C. & Moore, T.R. (2003). Micro-scale CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> dynamics in a peat soil during a water fluctuation and sulfate pulse. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* 35(4), 535-547.
- Bohlin, E., Hamalainen, M. & Sunden, T. (1989). Botanical and chemical characterization of peat using multivariate methods. *Soil Science* 147(4), 252–263.
- Box, G.E.P., Hunter, W.G. & Hunter, J.S. (1978). Statistics for experimenters: An introduction to design and data analysis and model building: John Wiley and Sons, New York, New York, USA.
- Bragazza, L., Freeman, C., Jones, T., Rydin, H., Limpens, J., Fenner, N., Ellis, T., Gerdol, R., Hajek, M., Hajek, T., Lacumin, P., Kutnar, L., Tahvanainen, T. & Toberman, H. (2006). Atmospheric nitrogen deposition promotes carbon loss from peat bogs. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103(51), 19386–19389.
- Breeuwer, A., Heijmans, M., Gleichman, M., Robroek, B.J.M. & Berendse, F. (2009). Response of Sphagnum species mixtures to increased temperature and nitrogen availability. *Plant Ecology* 204(1), 97-111.

- Breeuwer, A., Heijmans, M., Robroek, B.J.M., Limpens, J. & Berendse, F. (2008). The effect of increased temperature and nitrogen deposition on decomposition in bogs. *Oikos* 117(8), 1258-1268.
- Bubier, J., Crill, P., Mosedale, A., Frolking, S. & Linder, E. (2003). Peatland responses to varying interannual moisture conditions as measured by automatic CO<sub>2</sub> chambers. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 17(2).
- Bubier, J.L., Crill, P.M., Moore, T.R., Savage, K. & Varner, R.K. (1998). Seasonal patterns and controls on net ecosystem CO<sub>2</sub> exchange in a boreal peatland complex. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 12(4), 703–714.
- Bubier, J.L., Moore, T.R. & Bledzki, L.A. (2007). Effects of nutrient addition on vegetation and carbon cycling in an ombrotrophic bog. *Global Change Biology* 13(6), 1168-1186.
- Cao, M.K., Marshall, S. & Gregson, K. (1996). Global carbon exchange and methane emissions from natural wetlands: Application of a process-based model. *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres* 101(D9), 14399–14414.

Charman, D. (2002). Peatlands and environmental change: John Wiley & Sons Ltd, England.

- Chen, Y.H. & Prinn, R.G. (2006). Estimation of atmospheric methane emissions between 1996 and 2001 using a three-dimensional global chemical transport model. *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres* 111.
- Chivers, M.R., Turetsky, M.R., Waddington, J.M., Harden, J.W. & McGuire, A.D. (2009). Effects of Experimental Water Table and Temperature Manipulations on Ecosystem CO<sub>2</sub> Fluxes in an Alaskan Rich Fen. *Ecosystems* 12(8), 1329-1342.
- Christensen, T.R., Ekberg, A., Strom, L., Mastepanov, M., Panikov, N., Mats, O., Svensson, B.H., Nykanen, H., Martikainen, P.J. & Oskarsson, H. (2003). Factors controlling large scale variations in methane emissions from wetlands. *Geophysical Research Letters* 30(7).
- Clymo, R.S. (1963). Ion exchange in Sphagnum and its relation to bog ecology. *Annals of Botany* 27(106), 309-&.
- Conrad, R. (1989). Control of methane production in terrestrial ecosystems. In: Andreae, M.O., et al. (Eds.) Exchange of trace gases between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere. pp. 39-58. Chichester, United Kingdom.: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Conrad, R. (1996). Soil microorganisms as controllers of atmospheric trace gases (H<sub>2</sub>, CO, CH<sub>4</sub>, OCS, N<sub>2</sub>O, and NO). *Microbiological Reviews* 60(4), 609-+.
- Coulson, J.C. & Butterfield, J. (1978). Investigation of biotic factors determining rates of plant decomposition on blanket bogs. *Journal of Ecology* 66(2), 631-650.
- Crill, P.M., Martikainen, P.J., Nykanen, H. & Silvola, J. (1994). Temperature and N-Fertilization Effects on Methane Oxidation in a Drained Peatland Soil. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 26(10), 1331-1339.
- Davidson, E.A. & Janssens, I.A. (2006). Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition and feedbacks to climate change. *Nature* 440(7081), 165–173.
- Dise, N.B. & Verry, E.S. (2001). Suppression of peatland methane emission by cumulative sulfate deposition in simulated acid rain. *Biogeochemistry* 53(2), 143-160.
- Dorrepaal, E., Toet, S., van Logtestijn, R.S.P., Swart, E., van de Weg, M.J., Callaghan, T.V. & Aerts, R. (2009). Carbon respiration from subsurface peat accelerated by climate warming in the subarctic. *Nature* 460(7255), 616–U79.

- Dunfield, P., Knowles, R., Dumont, R. & Moore, T.R. (1993). Methane production and consumption in temperate and sub-artic peat soils – response to temperature and pH. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* 25(3), 321-326.
- FechnerLevy, E.J. & Hemond, H.F. (1996). Trapped methane volume and potential effects on methane ebullition in a northern peatland. *Limnology and Oceanography* 41(7), 1375– 1383.
- Fenchel, T., King, G.M. & Blackburn, T.H. (1998). Bacterial biogeochemistry: The ecophysiology of mineral cycling: Elsevier Academic Press, California, USA.
- Ferguson, P. & Lee, J.A. (1979). Effects of bisulfite and sulfate upon photosynthesis in Sphagnum. New Phytologist 82(3), 703-712.
- Freeman, C., Hudson, J., Lock, M.A., Reynolds, B. & Swanson, C. (1994). A possible role of sulphate in the supression of wetland methane fluxes following drought. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* 26(10), 1439-1442.
- Frolking, S. & Roulet, N.T. (2007). Holocene radiative forcing impact of northern peatland carbon accumulation and methane emissions. *Global Change Biology* 13(5), 1079-1088.
- Gauci, V., Matthews, E., Dise, N., Walter, B., Koch, D., Granberg, G. & Vile, M. (2004). Sulfur pollution suppression of the wetland methane source in the 20th and 21st centuries. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101(34), 12583-12587.
- Glaser, P.H., Chanton, J.P., Morin, P., Rosenberry, D.O., Siegel, D.I., Ruud, O., Chasar, L.I. & Reeve, A.S. (2004). Surface deformations as indicators of deep ebullition fluxes in a large northern peatland. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 18(1), 23.
- Gorham, E. (1991). Northern Peatlands Role in the Carbon-Cycle and Probable Responses to Climatic Warming. *Ecological Applications* 1(2), 182-195.
- Granath, G., Wiedermann, M.M. & Strengbom, J. (2009). Physiological responses to nitrogen and sulphur addition and raised temperature in Sphagnum balticum. *Oecologia* 161(3), 481-490.
- Granberg, G., Mikkela, C., Sundh, I., Svensson, B.H. & Nilsson, M. (1997). Sources of spatial variation in methane emission from mires in northern Sweden: A mechanistic approach in statistical modeling. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 11(2), 135-150.
- Granberg, G., Sundh, I., Svensson, B.H. & Nilsson, M. (2001). Effects of temperature, and nitrogen and sulfur deposition, on methane emission from a boreal mire. *Ecology* 82(7), 1982-1998.
- Greenup, A.L., Bradford, M.A., McNamara, N.P., Ineson, P. & Lee, J.A. (2000). The role of Eriophorum vaginatum in CH<sub>4</sub> flux from an ombrotrophic peatland. *Plant and Soil* 227(1-2), 265-272.
- Gunnarsson, U., Bronge, L.B., Rydin, H. & Ohlson, M. (2008). Near-zero recent carbon accumulation in a bog with high nitrogen deposition in SW Sweden. *Global Change Biology* 14(9), 2152-2165.
- Gunnarsson, U., Granberg, G. & Nilsson, M. (2004). Growth, production and interspecific competition in Sphagnum: effects of temperature, nitrogen and sulphur treatments on a boreal mire. *New Phytologist* 163(2), 349–359.
- Gunnarsson, U. & Rydin, H. (2000). Nitrogen fertilization reduces Sphagnum production in bog communities. New Phytologist 147(3), 527-537.

- Hobbie, S.E. & Chapin, F.S. (1998). Response of tundra plant biomass, aboveground production, nitrogen, and CO<sub>2</sub> flux to experimental warming. *Ecology* 79(5), 1526-1544.
- Högberg, P. & Read, D.J. (2006). Towards a more plant physiological perspective on soil ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 21(10), 548-554.
- Immirzi, C.P., Maltby, E. & Clymo, R.S. (1992). The global status of peatlands and their role in carbon cycling: a report for Friends of the Earth.
- Ingram, H.A.P. (1978). Soil layers in mires function and terminology. *Journal of Soil Science* 29(2), 224-227.
- IPCC (2007). Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC. In: Solomon, S., et al. (Eds.). p. 996. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Joabsson, A. & Christensen, T.R. (2001). Methane emissions from wetlands and their relationship with vascular plants: an Arctic example. *Global Change Biology* 7(8), 919-932.
- Joabsson, A., Christensen, T.R. & Wallen, B. (1999a). Influence of vascular plant photosynthetic rate on CH<sub>4</sub> emission from peat monoliths from southern boreal Sweden. *Polar Research* 18(2), 215-220.
- Joabsson, A., Christensen, T.R. & Wallen, B. (1999b). Vascular plant controls on methane emissions from northern peatforming wetlands. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 14(10), 385-388.
- Joosten, H. & Clarke, D. (2002). Wise use of mires and peatlands: Background and principles including a framework for decision-making: International Mire Conservation Group and International Peat Society, Canada.
- Keller, J.K., Bridgham, S.D., Chapin, C.T. & Iversen, C.M. (2005). Limited effects of six years of fertilization on carbon mineralization dynamics in a Minnesota fen. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 37(6), 1197-1204.
- Keller, J.K., White, J.R., Bridgham, S.D. & Pastor, J. (2004). Climate change effects on carbon and nitrogen mineralization in peatlands through changes in soil quality. *Global Change Biology* 10(7), 1053-1064.
- King, G.M. (1994). Associations of methanotrophs with the roots and rhizomes of aquatic vegetation. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 60(9), 3220–3227.
- Kluber, H.D. & Conrad, R. (1998). Effects of nitrate, nitrite, NO and N2O on methanogenesis and other redox processes in anoxic rice field soil. *Fems Microbiology Ecology* 25(3), 301-318.
- Knapp, A.K. & Yavitt, J.B. (1992). Evaluation of a closed-chamber method for estimating methane emissions from aquatic plants. *Tellus Series B-Chemical and Physical Meteorology* 44(1), 63-71.
- Kutzbach, L., Schneider, J., Sachs, T., Giebels, M., Nykanen, H., Shurpali, N.J., Martikainen, P.J., Alm, J. & Wilmking, M. (2007). CO2 flux determination by closedchamber methods can be seriously biased by inappropriate application of linear regression. *Biogeosciences* 4(6), 1005–1025.
- Laiho, R. (2006). Decomposition in peatlands: Reconciling seemingly contrasting results on the impacts of lowered water levels. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 38(8), 2011–2024.

- Latter, P.M., Howson, G., Howard, D.M. & Scott, W.A. (1998). Long-term study of litter decomposition on a Pennine neat bog: which regression? *Oecologia* 113(1), 94-103.
- Limpens, J., Berendse, F. & Klees, H. (2003). N deposition affects N availability in interstitial water, growth of Sphagnum and invasion of vascular plants in bog vegetation. *New Phytologist* 157(2), 339-347.
- Lind, P. & Kjellström, E. (2008). Temperature and precipitation changes in Sweden; a wide range of model-based projections for the 21st century. Reports Meteorology and Climatology 113. SMHI, SE 60176 Norrköping, Sweden. ISSN 113.
- Lindroth, A., Lund, M., Nilsson, M., Aurela, M., Christensen, T.R., Laurila, T., Rinne, J., Riutta, T., Sagerfors, J., Strom, L., Tuovinen, J.P. & Vesala, T. (2007). Environmental controls on the CO<sub>2</sub> exchange in north European mires. *Tellus Series B-Chemical and Physical Meteorology* 59(5), 812-825.
- Lund, M., Christensen, T.R., Mastepanov, M., Lindroth, A. & Strom, L. (2009). Effects of N and P fertilization on the greenhouse gas exchange in two northern peatlands with contrasting N deposition rates. *Biogeosciences* 6(10), 2135-2144.
- Malmer, N., Albinsson, C., Svensson, B.M. & Wallen, B. (2003). Interferences between Sphagnum and vascular plants: effects on plant community structure and peat formation. *Oikos* 100(3), 469-482.
- Malmer, N., Svensson, B.M. & Wallen, B. (1994). Interactions between Sphagnum mosses and field layer vascular plants in the development of peat-forming systems. *Folia Geobotanica & Phytotaxonomica* 29(4), 483-496.
- Malmström, C. (1923). Degerö Stormyr: En botanisk hydrologisk och utvecklingshistorisk undersökning av ett nordsvenskt myrkomplex. Meddelanden Statens Skogsförsöksanstalt 20, 1-177.
- Marschall, M. & Proctor, M.C.F. (2004). Are Bryophytes shade plants? Photosynthetic light responses and proportions of chlorofyll *a*, chlorofyll *b* and total carotenoids. *Annals of Botany* 94(4), 593-603.
- Moore, T.R. & Dalva, M. (1997). Methane and carbon dioxide exchange potentials of peat soils in aerobic and anaerobic laboratory incubations. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* 29(8), 1157-1164.
- Myneni, R.B., Keeling, C.D., Tucker, C.J., Asrar, G. & Nemani, R.R. (1997). Increased plant growth in the northern high latitudes from 1981 to 1991. *Nature* 386(6626), 698-702.
- Nardi, S., Concheri, G., Pizzeghello, D., Sturaro, A., Rella, R. & Parvoli, G. (2000). Soil organic matter mobilization by root exudates. *Chemosphere* 41(5), 653-658.
- Nilsson, M. & Öquist, M. (2009). Partitioning litter mass loss into carbon dioxide and methane in peatland ecosystems In: Baird, A.J., et al. (Eds.) Northern peatlands and carbon cycling American Geophysical Union Monograph Series.
- Nilsson, M., Sagerfors, J., Buffam, I., Laudon, H., Eriksson, T., Grelle, A., Klemedtsson, L., Weslien, P. & Lindroth, A. (2008). Contemporary carbon accumulation in a boreal oligotrophic minerogenic mire - a significant sink after accounting for all C-fluxes. *Global Change Biology* 14(10), 2317-2332.

- Nykänen, H., Vasander, H., Huttunen, J.T. & Martikainen, P.J. (2002). Effect of experimental nitrogen load on methane and nitrous oxide fluxes on ombrotrophic boreal peatland. *Plant and Soil* 242(1), 147-155.
- Öquist, M.G. & Svensson, B.H. (2002). Vascular plants as regulators of methane emissions from a subarctic mire ecosystem. *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres* 107(D21).
- Peterjohn, W.T., Melillo, J.M., Steudler, P.A., Newkirk, K.M., Bowles, F.P. & Aber, J.D. (1994). Responses of trace gas fluxes and N availability to experimentally elevated soil temperatures. *Ecological Applications* 4(3), 617-625.
- Riutta, T., Laine, J., Aurela, M., Rinne, J., Vesala, T., Laurila, T., Haapanala, S., Pihlatie, M. & Tuittila, E.S. (2007). Spatial variation in plant community functions regulates carbon gas dynamics in a boreal fen ecosystem. *Tellus Series B-Chemical and Physical Meteorology* 59(5), 838-852.
- Roulet, N.T., Lafleur, P.M., Richard, P.J.H., Moore, T.R., Humphreys, E.R. & Bubier, J. (2007). Contemporary carbon balance and late Holocene carbon accumulation in a northern peatland. *Global Change Biology* 13(2), 397-411.
- Rustad, L.E., Campbell, J.L., Marion, G.M., Norby, R.J., Mitchell, M.J., Hartley, A.E., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Gurevitch, J. & Gcte, N. (2001). A meta-analysis of the response of soil respiration, net nitrogen mineralization, and aboveground plant growth to experimental ecosystem warming. *Oecologia* 126(4), 543–562.
- Rydin, H. & Jeglum, J. (2006). The biology of peatlands. Oxford UK: Oxford University Press. (The biology of peatlands. ISBN 978-0-19-852872-2; 0-19-852872-8.
- Saarnio, S., Jarvio, S., Saarinen, T., Vasander, H. & Silvola, J. (2003). Minor changes in vegetation and carbon gas balance in a boreal mire under a raised CO<sub>2</sub> or NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> supply. *Ecosystems* 6(1), 46-60.
- Saarnio, S., Saarinen, T., Vasander, H. & Silvola, J. (2000). A moderate increase in the annual CH<sub>4</sub> efflux by raised CO<sub>2</sub> or NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> supply in a boreal oligotrophic mire. *Global Change Biology* 6(2), 137-144.
- Saarnio, S. & Silvola, J. (1999). Effects of increased CO<sub>2</sub> and N on CH<sub>4</sub> efflux from a boreal mire: a growth chamber experiment. *Oecologia* 119(3), 349-356.
- Saarnio, S., Wittenmayer, L. & Merbach, W. (2004). Rhizospheric exudation of Eriophorum vaginatum L. - Potential link to methanogenesis. *Plant and Soil* 267(1-2), 343-355.
- Sagerfors, J. (2007). Land-atmosphere exchange of CO<sub>2</sub>, water and energy at a boreal minerotrophic mire. Ph.D. Thesis. Diss. Umeå:Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- Schimel, J.P. (1995). Plant-transport and methane production as controls on methane flux from arctic wet meadow tundra. *Biogeochemistry* 28(3), 183-200.
- Sebacher, D.I., Harriss, R.C. & Bartlett, K.B. (1985). Methane emissions to the atmosphere through aquatic plants. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 14(1), 40-46.
- Shaver, G.R., Johnson, L.C., Cades, D.H., Murray, G., Laundre, J.A., Rastetter, E.B., Nadelhoffer, K.J. & Giblin, A.E. (1998). Biomass and CO<sub>2</sub> flux in wet sedge tundras: Responses to nutrients, temperature, and light. *Ecological Monographs* 68(1), 75-97.
- Sjörs, H. (1991). Phytomass and Necromass above and Below Ground in a Fen. Holarctic Ecology 14(3), 208-218.

- Sullivan, P.F., Arens, S.J.T., Chimner, R.A. & Welker, J.M. (2008). Temperature and microtopography interact to control carbon cycling in a high arctic fen. *Ecosystems* 11(1), 61-76.
- Sundh, I., Nilsson, M., Granberg, G. & Svensson, B.H. (1994). Depth Distribution of Microbial-Production and Oxidation of Methane in Northern Boreal Peatlands. *Microbial Ecology* 27(3), 253-265.
- Turetsky, M.R., Treat, C.C., Waldrop, M.P., Waddington, J.M., Harden, J.W. & McGuire, A.D. (2008). Short-term response of methane fluxes and methanogen activity to water table and soil warming manipulations in an Alaskan peatland. *Journal of Geophysical Research-Biogeosciences* 113.
- Turunen, J., Tomppo, E., Tolonen, K. & Reinikainen, A. (2002). Estimating carbon accumulation rates of undrained mires in Finland – application to boreal and subarctic regions. *Holocene* 12(1), 69–80.
- Updegraff, K., Bridgham, S.D., Pastor, J., Weishampel, P. & Harth, C. (2001). Response of CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from peatlands to warming and water table manipulation. *Ecological Applications* 11(2), 311-326.
- Van Breemen, N. (1995). How Sphagnum bogs down other plants. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 10(7), 270-275.
- van Noordwijk, M., Martikainen, P., Bottner, P., Cuevas, E., Rouland, C. & Dhillion, S.S. (1998). Global change and root function. *Global Change Biology* 4(7), 759-772.
- Vitt, D.H., Wieder, R.K., Scott, K.D. & Faller, S. (2009). Decomposition and Peat Accumulation in Rich Fens of Boreal Alberta, Canada. *Ecosystems* 12(3), 360-373.
- Wallén, B. (1986). Above and Below Ground Dry Mass of the 3 Main Vascular Plants on Hummocks on a Sub-Arctic Peat Bog. Oikos 46(1), 51-56.
- Walter, B.P. & Heimann, M. (2000). A process-based, climate-sensitive model to derive methane emissions from natural wetlands: Application to five wetland sites, sensitivity to model parameters, and climate. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 14(3), 745-765.
- Weltzin, J.F., Bridgham, S.D., Pastor, J., Chen, J.Q. & Harth, C. (2003). Potential effects of warming and drying on peatland plant community composition. *Global Change Biology* 9(2), 141-151.
- White, J.R., Shannon, R.D., Weltzin, J.F., Pastor, J. & Bridgham, S.D. (2008). Effects of soil warming and drying on methane cycling in a northern peatland mesocosm study. *Journal* of Geophysical Research-Biogeosciences 113.
- Whiting, G.J. & Chanton, J.P. (1992). Plant-dependent methane emission in a subarctic Canadian fen. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 6(3), 225-231.
- Wiedermann, M.M., Gunnarsson, U., Nilsson, M., Nordin, A. & Ericson, L. (2008). Can small-scale experiments predict ecosystem responses? An example from peatlands. *Oikos, in press*, doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0706.2008.17129.x.
- Wiedermann, M.M., Nordin, A., Gunnarsson, U., Nilsson, M.B. & Ericson, L. (2007). Global change shifts vegetation and plant-parasite interactions in a boreal mire. *Ecology* 88(2), 454-464.
- Yavitt, J.B., Lang, G.E. & Wieder, R.K. (1987). Control of carbon mineralization to CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> in anaerobic, Sphagnum-derived peat from Big run bog, West-Virginia. *Biogeochemistry* 4(2), 141-157.

Zhuang, Q.L., Melillo, J.M., Sarofim, M.C., Kicklighter, D.W., McGuire, A.D., Felzer, B.S., Sokolov, A., Prinn, R.G., Steudler, P.A. & Hu, S.M. (2006). CO2 and CH4 exchanges between land ecosystems and the atmosphere in northern high latitudes over the 21st century. *Geophysical Research Letters* 33(17).

### Acknowledgements

Jag vill ta chansen att rikta ett stort TACK till alla som varit med mig på min långa resa, som varit fylld av både glädje och frustration.

Först av allt vill jag tacka min handledare **Mats Nilsson** för din stora kunskap inom... ja, det mesta, tror jag, och för att du så frikostligt har delat med dig av den. Framförallt har jag uppskattat det stöd jag har känt från dig under det senaste året. Sammanställningen av kappan och de sista artiklarna har nog varit bland den jobbigaste, men också forskningsmässigt roligaste tiden i mitt liv, mycket tack vare det dagliga utbytet av tankar och idéer som vi har haft! Ett stort tack också till min biträdande handledare **Mats Öquist**, som har varit mitt stora bollplank när det gäller allt från frågor om biogeokemi och krånglande gaskromatografer till tuffa tennismatcher (vem var det nu som vann?). Tack för att du alltid har ställt upp och varit öppen för kloka såväl som för dumma frågor! Tack också **Annika Nordin** för dina vårdefulla råd i början av min tid som doktorand!

Flera personer har hjälpt mig både i fält och i labb. Framförallt hade jag inte klarat mig utan **Pia**. Tack för din enorma insats med metanmätningar och för din omtanke och galna humor som gjort jobbet lättare. Dessutom, om man har mottot "En fältdag utan nybakad äppelkaka med vaniljsås är ingen fältdag" så är man nog den optimala fältassistenten! Ett tack till **Ronja** för hennes tålamod och uppskattande av min medhavda matsäck. Ett stort tack **Ruraidh** för insatsen och det glada humöret under genomförandet av inkubationsstudien ("hell month" även kallad). Stort tack också till **Magdalena** för hjälpen med vegetationsmätningar och torvprovtagningar, och **Ishi** för att du tog dig tid att titta på vattnets innehåll i försöket. **Lars Lundmark** har byggt ihop all CO<sub>2</sub>-mätutrustning och dessutom hjälpt mig att laga den då den "råkat" gå sönder. Tack **Jörgen** för att du hjälpt mig nysta upp all snårig klimatdata och tack **Mikaell** för strålningsmätningar och rostade nötter. Och vår trerättersmiddag den där fantastiska höstdagen på myren kommer jag att bära med mig!

Vår gaskromatograf får inget tack trots att den är delaktig i två av artiklarna; den har gett mig betydligt mer huvudbry än glädje. Tur då att **Håkan** och **Elin** har funnits där som expertis och **Stina** och Mats Ö som medkämpar! Tack också **Anna** och Stina för hjälpen med att förbättra kappan och tack **Ulrik** för våra diskussioner och din hjälp med statistik.

Det har varit många på institutionen som har förgyllt min tillvaro under denna tid. Tack alla härliga doktorandkollegor, både gamla och nya, för alla roliga fikastunder, luncher och resor, och ert stöd när det inte varit lika uppåt. Fortsätt att ta hand om varandra och glöm inte bort att ha roligt. Tack också alla övriga kollegor som gjort min tillvaro både roligare och intressantare! Ett extra varmt tack till **Margareta** och **Elisabeth** och senare också **Karin** och **Ann-Kathrin** för er hjälp med det där jobbiga, administriva och tack för er omsorg om mig och andra. Ni är guld värda!

Slutligen vill jag tacka alla nära och kära! **Pappa**, för att ha varit min stora förebild i det mesta i livet och är anledningen till att jag får äran att skriva dessa rader. Tack både **mamma** och pappa för all kärlek och allt stöd, ni är fantastiska! **Brorsan** och **syrran** med familjer; tack för att ni alltid finns där och nu ska ni få träffa mig och höra från mig mer! Tack "svärmor" **Ullavi** för din hjälp med barnen under de sista hektiska veckorna med kappaskrivandet, utan den hjälpen hade det inte gått!

Det mest fantastiska som har hänt under dessa år är dock ej i bokform, utan i form av min älskade livskamrat och den familj vi har skapat tillsammans! **Albin** och **Signe**, ni är mina skatter, och nu kommer pappa hem! **Veronica**, tack för att du finns i mitt liv och nu äntligen kan vi ge oss ut på nya spännande äventyr!

This study was financed by the Swedish Research Council for Environment, Agricultural Sciences and Spatial Planning (Grant no. 21.4/2003-0876 to Mats Nilsson).